S220812

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE

OF CALIFORNIA

TIMOTHY SANDQUIST, Plaintiff and Appellant, SUPREME COURT FILED

vs.

JAN 1 2 2015

LEBO AUTOMOTIVE, INC., et al. Defendants and Respondents.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Appeal from the Superior Court for the County of Los Angeles
Case No. BC476523
The Honorable Elihu M. Berle
After Review by the Court of Appeal,
Second Appellate District, Division Seven
Case No. B244412

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

James J. McDonald, Jr., Bar No. 150605
email: jmcdonald@laborlawyers.com
Grace Y. Horoupian, Bar No. 180337
email: ghoroupian@laborlawyers.com
Jimmie E. Johnson, Bar No. 223344
email: jjohnson@laborlawyers.com
FISHER & PHILLIPS LLP

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Did the Second District Court of Appeal ("Second District") erroneously determine that an arbitrator, not a court, should determine the scope of the arbitrator's own jurisdiction to hear class claims absent authorizing language in the arbitration agreement?
- 2. Even if the Superior Court of California for the County of Los Angeles ("Superior Court") erred by determining itself whether the arbitrator had jurisdiction to hear class claims, was that error harmless given that the Superior Court correctly determined that the arbitration agreements did not authorize the arbitrator to hear class claims?

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff and Appellant TIMOTHY SANDQUIST ("Appellant") filed a civil action in the Superior Court against his former employer, Defendant and Respondent LEBO AUTOMOTIVE, INC. dba JOHN ELWAY'S MANHATTAN BEACH TOYOTA ("Lebo Automotive"), as well as his former supervisor, Defendant and Respondent DARRELL SPERBER, and Lebo Automotive's former corporate shareholders, Defendant and Respondents JOHN ELWAY, MITCHELL PIERCE, and JERRY WILLIAMS (collectively, "Respondents"). The operative First Amended Complaint ("FAC") includes a mix of both class and individual claims.

Appellant previously had entered into several arbitration agreements with Lebo Automotive. Based upon those agreements, Respondents moved the Superior Court to compel arbitration of all causes of action. In addition, because the arbitration agreements did not authorize the arbitrator to hear class claims, Respondents included within their motion a request that the Superior Court strike the

class allegations and compel Appellant to arbitrate his causes of action on an individual basis only.

The Superior Court granted Respondents' motion to compel the FAC to arbitration, and further ordered that Appellant could prosecute his causes of action on an individual basis only. Appellant appealed both aspects of the order.

On appeal, the Second District affirmed the order compelling arbitration of the FAC but reversed that part of the order requiring Appellant to prosecute his claims on an individual basis. On the latter issue, the Second District held that the question of whether an arbitration agreement empowers an arbitrator to hear class claims is for the arbitrator decide, not the courts. In this regard, however, the Second District diverted from the clear path taken by the United States Supreme Court and other California and federal courts on this issue. E.g., Stolt-Nielsen S.A. v. Animalfeeds International Corp. (2010) 559 U.S. 662; Oxford Health Plans, LLC v. Sutter (2013) 133 S. Ct. 2064; Network Capital Funding Corporation v. Papke (4th Dist. App. Ct., Oct. 9, 2014), Case No. G049172 [certified for publication]; Garden Fresh Restaurant Corporation v. Superior Court (4th Dist. App. Ct., Nov. 17, 2014), Case No. D066028 [certified for publication]; Reed Elsevier, Inc. v. Crockett (6th Cir. 2013) 734 F.3d 594, 597-598; Huffman v. Hilltop Companies, LLC (6th Cir. 2014) 747 F.3d 391, 398-399; Opalinski v. Robert Half International Inc. (3rd Cir. 2014) 761 F.3d 326, 332-336. As the Sixth Circuit observed: "Although the Supreme Court's puzzle of cases on this issue is not yet complete, the Court has sorted the border pieces and filled in much of the background. ... [R]ecently the Court has given every indication, short of an outright holding, that classwide arbitrability is a gateway question rather than a subsidiary one" requiring judicial resolution. Reed Elsevier, supra, at 597-598.

Accordingly, this Court should reverse that part of the Second District's order below holding that the issue of whether the parties agreed to arbitrate class claims must be decided by the arbitrator.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Parties

According to the allegations set forth in the FAC, Lebo Automotive is an automobile dealership located in Manhattan Beach, California. 1 JA 56-57. Lebo Automotive employed Appellant as a sales manager from September 2000 until Appellant's voluntary resignation on January 7, 2011. 1 JA 52-80. Respondent Sperber is the General Manager of Lebo Automotive, and has an ownership interest in the dealership. 1 JA 57. The remaining Respondents co-owned and operated Lebo Automotive during the applicable period. 1 JA 57.

B. The Parties' Arbitration Agreements

At the beginning of his employment with Lebo Automotive, Appellant signed an arbitration agreement that reads in pertinent part:

I also acknowledge that the Company utilizes a system of alternative dispute resolution which involves binding arbitration to resolve all disputes which may arise out of the employment context. ... I and the Company both agree that any claim, dispute, and/or controversy ... which would otherwise require or allow resort to any court or other governmental dispute resolution forum between myself and the Company (or its owners, directors, officers, managers, employees, agents, and parties affiliated with its employee benefit and health plans) arising from, related to, or having any relationship or connection whatsoever with my seeking employment with, employment by, or other association with the Company, whether based on tort, contract, statutory, or equitable law, or otherwise, (with the sole exception of claims arising under the National Labor Relations Act which are brought before the National Labor Relations Board, claims for medical and disability benefits under the California Workers' Compensation Act, and Employment Development Department claims) shalf be submitted to and determined exclusively by binding arbitration. . . . Resolution of the dispute shall be based solely upon the law governing the claims and defenses pleaded, and the arbitrator may not invoke any basis (including but not limited to, notions of "just cause") other than such controlling law.

1 JA 195. That same day, Appellant signed two additional arbitration agreements with Lebo Automotive containing similar language. 1 JA 197-198, 200-201.

C. Procedural History

On January 9, 2012, Appellant filed a putative class action complaint in the Superior Court against Respondents. 1 JA 1-51. Soon thereafter, on February 1, 2012, Appellant filed his FAC. 1 JA 52-107. The FAC alleges four causes of action: (1) class-wide unlawful discrimination against Lebo Automotive, (2) class-wide unlawful harassment against all Respondents, (3) class-wide violations of *Business & Professions Code* section 17200 against Lebo Automotive, and (4) individual unlawful termination in violation of public policy against Lebo Automotive. 1 JA 52-80.

On March 20, 2012, Respondents filed a motion in the Superior Court to compel arbitration of all claims in the FAC, and to strike the class allegations. 1 JA 176-177, 179-189. On August 14, 2012, the Superior Court granted the motion to compel arbitration of the FAC, and additionally dismissed without prejudice Appellant's class claims because there was no contractual basis for compelling class arbitration. 6 JA 1373-1401 [discussion of individual arbitration issue at pp. 1393-1396]. The Superior Court granted Appellant until September 18, 2012 to amend his pleadings by naming a new class representative who had not signed an arbitration agreement. 6 JA 1373-1401 [discussion of leave to amend at pp. 1398-1399]. On October 5, 2012, Appellant having failed to name such a new class representative, the Superior Court dismissed the class claims with prejudice. 6 JA 1460-1462.

That same day, Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal challenging the Superior Court's order. 6 JA 1463. On June 25, 2014, the Second District issued an opinion reversing and remanding that part of the Superior Court's decision striking the class allegations. The Second District held that the arbitrator, not the Superior Court,

should have determined his or her own jurisdiction to hear Appellant's class claims. *Opn.*, at 9-15. On July 22, 2014, the Second District published its opinion. *Order Modifying Opinion and Certifying for Publication, No Change in Document* (2nd Dist. Ct. App., Jul 22, 2014), Case No. B244412.

On August 26, 2014, Respondents filed in this Court a petition for review of the Second District's opinion. *Dkt., Petition for review filed* (Aug. 27, 2014). On November 12, 2014, this Court granted the petition. *Dkt., Petition for review granted* (Nov. 12, 2014).¹

LEGAL DISCUSSION

I.

The Courts Are to Determine Whether an Arbitration Agreement Authorizes an Arbitrator to Hear Class Claims

A. Arbitration Is a Matter of Consent, Not Coercion, and Allowing

Arbitrators to Require Parties to Arbitrate Class Actions When They

Never Agreed To Do So Would Violate Well-Established United States

Supreme Court Precedent

In Volt Information Sciences v. Board of Trustees of Leland Stanford Junior Univ. (1989) 489 U.S. 468, 474, a party asked the United States Supreme Court to void certain provisions of an arbitration agreement as purportedly inconsistent with the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA"), and inferentially institute alternate provisions that were not a part of the original agreement. 489 U.S. at 468-469. The Court soundly rejected the suggestion that the FAA empowered courts to mandate provisions not contained within the original agreement. "Arbitration under the [FAA] is a matter of consent, not coercion, and parties are generally free to structure their

¹ Appellant did not seek review of that part of the Second District's opinion upholding the order to compel arbitration of the FAC.

arbitration agreement as they see fit." *Id.* at 479 (emphasis added). *Volt* was not the Court's first pronouncement on the issue. As early as *Steelworkers v. Warrior & Gulf Navigation Co.* (1960) 363 U.S. 574, the Court maintained that "arbitration is a matter of contract and a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed so to submit." *Id.* at 582.

Later, in Stolt-Nielsen S.A. v. Animalfeeds International Corp. (2010) 559 U.S. 662, the Court rejected a proposed presumption that arbitrators had the jurisdiction to hear class actions where the underlying agreement was silent on the issue. The Court explained that a party may not be compelled to submit to arbitration of a matter unless there is a contractual basis for concluding that the party agreed to do so. Id. at 684. "Nothing in the FAA authorizes a court to compel arbitration of any issues ... that are not already covered in the agreement." Id. at 683 [quoting EEOC v. Waffle House, Inc. (2002) 534 U.S. 279, 289; internal parentheticals omitted]. "Arbitrators derive their authority to resolve disputes only because the parties have agreed in advance to submit such grievances to arbitration." Id. at 682-683 [quoting AT&T Technologies, supra, 475 U.S. at 648-649; internal parentheticals omitted]. "Arbitration is simply a matter of contract between the parties; it is a way to resolve those disputes – but only those disputes – that the parties have agreed to submit to arbitration." Id. at 684 [quoting First Options of Chicago, Inc. v. Kaplan (1995) 514 U.S. 938, 943; emphasis on original; internal parentheticals omitted].

"[A] party can be forced to arbitrate *only* those issues it specifically has agreed to submit to arbitration." *First Options of Chicago, supra,* 514 U.S. at 945 [emphasis added]. A presumption that arbitrators may determine their own jurisdiction absent contractual language to the contrary would potentially force a party to arbitrate an issue it never agreed to arbitrate – a result the United States Supreme Court has repeatedly rejected. As the Court in *First Options* explained:

"[G]iven the principle that a party can be forced to arbitrate only those issues it specifically has agreed to submit to arbitration, one can understand why courts might hesitate to interpret silence or ambiguity on the 'who should decide arbitrability' point as giving the arbitrators that power, for doing so might too often force unwilling parties to arbitrate a matter they reasonably would have thought a judge, not an arbitrator, would decide." *Ibid*.

The Second District below ignored this important principle in holding that, without any authority to do so vested in them by the parties, arbitrators may nonetheless require parties to arbitrate class action claims where they did not previously agree to arbitrate such claims.

B. The Second District Below Erred in Finding Bazzle to Be Persuasive

The Second District noted that *Green Tree Financial Corp. v. Bazzle* (2003) 539 U.S. 444, because it was only a plurality decision, was not binding authority. It nonetheless found it to be persuasive authority, leading it to conclude that an arbitrator as opposed to a court should decide whether parties agreed to class arbitration. *Opn.* at 13-15. The Second District's reliance on *Bazzle* was erroneous.

1. The U.S. Supreme Court Has Twice Distanced Itself from Bazzle

In two subsequent cases, the United States Supreme Court went out of its way to distance itself from the plurality opinion in *Bazzle*. In *Stolt-Neilsen, supra*, the Court noted that the parties apparently had been "baffled" by *Bazzle*, having believed that it requires an arbitrator, not a court, to decide whether a contract permits class arbitration. The Court admonished: "In fact, however, only the plurality decided that question." 559 U.S. at 680. Likewise, in *Oxford Health Plans, LLC v. Sutter* (2013) 133 S. Ct. 2064, the Court reiterated that *Bazzle* was merely a plurality decision. *Id.* at 2068 fn. 2. Given the Court's efforts to distance itself from *Bazzle*, the Second

District erred in finding *Bazzle* to be persuasive and this Court should not attribute any persuasive value to it.

2. The Plurality Opinion in Bazzle Was Based on the Language of the Arbitration Agreements at Issue There Which Differs from the Language in the Agreements Here

In *Bazzle*, the four-Justice plurality² addressed whether the South Carolina Supreme Court had correctly determined that the arbitration agreements in question empowered the arbitrator to hear class claims. The *Bazzle* plurality first determined that the question is primarily a question of contractual interpretation subject to the rules of the applicable state law. 539 U.S. at 447, 450; see also 539 U.S. at 454-455 [J. Stevens concurring]; In other words, the plurality maintained, courts should first look to the arbitration agreement itself, employing the applicable state rules of interpretation, to determine who decides the question.

The arbitration agreement in *Bazzle* read, in pertinent part: "All disputes, claims, or controversies arising from or relating to this contract or the relationships which result from this contract" would be subject to arbitration. 539 U.S. at 451. The plurality determined, based upon South Carolina rules of interpretation, that "whether [the arbitration agreement] forbids the use of class arbitration procedures[] is a dispute 'relating to this contract' and the resulting 'relationships.'" *Ibid.* Based upon this interpretation of contract language under state law, the *Bazzle* plurality opined: "Hence the parties seem to have agreed that an arbitrator, not a judge, would answer the relevant question." *Id.* at 451-452. The *Bazzle* plurality emphasized that it was the arbitration contracts' "sweeping language concerning the scope of the questions committed to arbitration" that led it to conclude that this matter of contract interpretation should be for the arbitrator, not the courts, to decide. *Id.* at 452-453

² Justices Souter, Breyer, Scalia, and Ginsburg. *Bazzle, supra*, 539 U.S. at 447.

[emphasis added]. The arbitration agreement in this case, by contrast, does not contain such "sweeping language." It does not authorize the arbitrator to determine all disputes relating to the agreement itself. It authorizes the arbitrator only to resolve employment disputes between the parties. This substantial difference in language further undercuts the persuasive value of *Bazzle* here.

Next, the *Bazzle* plurality responded to an argument that its contractual interpretation analysis ran afoul of a federal rule previously established by the United States Supreme Court in *AT&T Technologies v. Communications Workers* (1986) 475 U.S. 643, and other cases. *Bazzle, supra,* 539 U.S. at 452; 456-457 [C.J. Rehnquist dissenting, raising similar argument citing *First Options of Chicago, supra,* 514 U.S. at 945]. *AT&T Technologies* held, in pertinent part, that courts shall presume that the parties intended for the courts to determine jurisdictional questions in the absence of "clear and unmistakable" evidence within the arbitration agreement to the contrary – a standard the language analyzed by the *Bazzle* plurality did not satisfy. 475 U.S. at 649. While recognizing the precedential authority of *AT&T Technologies*, the *Bazzle* plurality opined that the strong presumption discussed in that case only applied to controversies concerning an arbitrator's jurisdiction to hear those substantive claims as class actions. 539 U.S. at 452-453.

However, the plurality's finding that the AT&T Technologies presumption did not apply to an arbitrator's authority to hear class claims does not equate to a determination that an equal but opposite presumption exists that arbitrators should determine their own such jurisdiction. As discussed above, such a presumption would contradict the well-established rule that arbitration "is a matter of consent, not coercion," and that a party may not be compelled to submit to arbitration unless that party previously agreed to it. Volt, supra, 489 U.S. at 479; Howsam v. Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc. (2002) 537 U.S. 79, 83. Rather, the Bazzle plurality opinion merely

provides that (1) the language of the specific arbitration agreement in that case, as interpreted under South Carolina law, provided that the arbitrator could determine the scope of his authority to hear class claims; and (2) the federal law presumption discussed in *AT&T Technologies* does not supersede the primacy of state rules of interpretation when resolving such disputes.

3. This Court Recently Determined that California Contract Law
Requires Courts to Decide the Scope of an Arbitrator's
Authority Absent an "Express" Delegation of Such Authority in
the Underlying Arbitration Agreement

As noted above, the *Bazzle* plurality maintained that state law rules of contractual interpretation primarily determine if an arbitration agreement authorizes the arbitrator to determine his own authority to hear class claims. *Bazzle, supra,* 539 U.S. at 447, 450, 454-455 [J. Stevens concurring]. In *City of Los Angeles v. Superior Court* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 1086, 1091-1093, this Court determined that under California law any such delegation must be express.

In City of Los Angeles, this Court was presented an arbitration agreement which authorized the arbitrator to determine "any dispute concerning the interpretation or application of this written MOU [which included the arbitration agreement], or departmental rules and regulations governing personnel practices or working conditions applicable to employees covered by this MOU." 56 Cal.4th at 1093 [emphasis added, parenthetical in original omitted]. The parties disagreed as to whether this language encompassed disputes over furloughs. Id. at 1091-1092. Despite the contractual language stating that "any dispute concerning the interpretation or application" fell within the jurisdiction of the arbitrator, this Court nonetheless found, "[h]ere, because the parties' MOU did not expressly authorize the arbitrator to determine whether particular disputes were subject to arbitration, that determination was for the court to make." Id. at 1093.

In City of Los Angeles this Court was clear: "[U]nless an arbitration agreement expressly provides otherwise, a dispute regarding the arbitrability of a particular dispute is subject to judicial resolution." 56 Cal.4th at 1096. In other words, this Court holds that under state contract law there is a strong presumption that courts should determine the jurisdiction of arbitrators. Pursuant to City of Los Angeles, for a party to overcome this strong presumption it would need to identify language in the text of the arbitration agreement which expressly states to the effect: "The parties agree that the arbitrator shall have the authority to determine the scope of his or her own jurisdiction over class claims." Even language reading "any dispute concerning the interpretation or application of the arbitration agreement," is insufficient. 56 Cal.4th at 1093. The arbitration agreements in this case come nowhere near providing such an express delegation. 1 JA 195, 197-198, 200-201. City of Los Angeles provides yet another reason for this Court not to follow Bazzle here.

C. <u>The Question of Whether the Parties Have Agreed to Arbitrate Class</u> Actions Is Not a "Procedural Question"

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