S220812

CRC
8.25(b)

In the
Supreme Court
of the
State of California

SUPREME COURT
FILED

MAR 16 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

TIMOTHY SANDQUIST,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

LEBO AUTOMOTIVE, INC. et al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

CALIFORNIA COURT OF APPEAL · SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT · NO. B244412
SUPERIOR COURT OF LOS ANGELES · HON. ELIHU M. BERLE · NO. BC476523

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

*FELICIA MEDINA, ESQ. (255804)
SANFORD HEISLER, LLP
555 Montgomery Street, Suite 1206
San Francisco, California 94111
(415) 795-2020 Telephone
(415) 795-2021 Facsimile

F. PAUL BLAND, ESQ. (298635)
PUBLIC JUSTICE, P.C.
1825 K Street, NW, Suite 200
Washington, D.C. 20006

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

¹⁴ Similarly, due to the importance of class certification, interlocutory appeal of a class certification decision may be warranted. *See, e.g.*, Committee Note to 1998 Amendments to Rule 23, Subdivision 23(f). Yet, as far as Plaintiff is aware, no federal court has suggested that a court rather than an arbitrator must decide class certification. The fact that it is a defining moment in the litigation is not enough.

arbitration and individual arbitrations are very different procedures. Further, the differences between bilateral and class arbitration “are primarily relevant to deciding the availability of such class arbitration, not the antecedent question of whether that decision is assigned to the Court or the arbitrator.” *Id.* at *36. Although these differences are significant, they do not “rebut the core point in *Bazzle* that the class of questions of arbitrability is a limited one, and that the availability of class arbitration pertains to the procedures to be employed at an arbitration, not whether an arbitration is permissible in the first instance.” *Id.* at *37-38.¹⁵

The Second District echoed this point, holding that “these concerns are more relevant to the issue of whether the parties agreed to class arbitration rather than the issue of whether the court or the arbitrator decides.” Opinion at p. 14. At bottom, the parties’ dispute will be sent to arbitration regardless of whether class procedures are available, and the propriety of class treatment is an issue of how the case will be conducted once in arbitration.

2. Arbitrators are Fully-Equipped to Decide Clause Construction Issues Without Undue Court Interference

As stated above, *Bazzle* held that arbitrators are well-positioned to interpret the applicable contract and determine whether it authorizes class arbitration. In wresting such procedural determinations from the arbitrator, the few decisions which reject *Bazzle* reflect the very hostility to arbitration

¹⁵ See also *Harrison, supra*, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 117154 at *12-14 (holding that Supreme Court’s “cautionary note” “regarding the practical differences between bilateral and class arbitration does not alter the outcome”; “the parties will not be forced to arbitrate any substantive dispute they did not agree to arbitrate”; “more significantly,” *Bazzle* continues to guide the analysis and dictate the result); *Williams-Bell, supra*, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 2033.

that the FAA condemns – carving out a sphere of questions too important for an arbitrator to decide. The differences between individual and class proceedings may be appropriate considerations at the clause construction phase, but they are premature at this juncture. Smuggling such clause construction concerns into the “who decides” analysis in order to usurp the arbitrator’s authority reflects the kind of hostility and mistrust toward arbitrators repeatedly decried by the U.S. Supreme Court. *See generally Concepcion, supra*, 131 S.Ct. at p. 1747. Skepticism regarding the ability of arbitrators to handle potentially complex procedures distorts the FAA – principally concerned with expedient alternatives to judicial resolution, and firmly committed to minimal judicial involvement – beyond recognition.

Defendants also feign concern for the due process rights of absent class members, arguing that arbitrators should not make decisions that implicate class members’ rights. Defendants offer no evidence for the claim that class arbitration would trounce the rights of absent class members. Like courts, arbitrators are fully capable of preserving those rights through strict adherence to class action protocols, including carefully defining the class and issuing the best practicable notice. *See, e.g., Phillips Petroleum Co. v. Shutts* (1985) 472 U.S. 797, 811-12 (describing constitutionally adequate notice).¹⁶ The related argument that the question at bar is substantive because it concerns *whose* claims are subject to arbitration falters for

¹⁶ Arguments to the contrary fail on their face and are particularly abhorrent where, as here, the arbitration clauses require the parties to arbitrate before a retired California Superior Court judge subject to the disqualification rules of that court. *See* 1 JA 194-201. Moreover, generally speaking, arbitrators are routinely entrusted with the management and resolution of large and complex class actions. *See, e.g., Jock v. Sterling Jewelers Inc.* (2d Cir. 2011) 646 F.3d 113, *cert. denied*, 132 S.Ct. 1742 (rejecting attempt by district court to second-guess decision of arbitrator to permit class arbitration and entrusting conduct of class arbitration proceedings in large nationwide employment discrimination dispute to arbitrator).

similar reasons. Each prospective class member signed the same Arbitration Acknowledgements; those who elect not to opt out following provision of notice are properly subject to the arbitral decision.¹⁷

H. Defendants' Reliance on *City of Los Angeles* is Inapposite

Defendants wrongly claim that the Second District overlooked this Court's supposedly "contradictory and controlling" decision in *City of Los Angeles v. Superior Court* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 1086. This was no oversight. The *City of Los Angeles* decision has no bearing on the present dispute. Rather, it stands squarely on the substantive side of the substantive/procedural dichotomy in holding that when the issue is whether the parties are obligated to arbitrate their dispute (as opposed to remaining in court), the court presumptively decides.

In *City of Los Angeles*, the parties contested whether their contract mandated arbitration of a particular type of substantive legal claim related to furloughs. This Court drew upon a body of law unique to the labor and collective bargaining context. It held that because the parties' disagreement concerned "whether a party has a contractual duty to arbitrate a particular dispute," it was "subject to judicial resolution." 56 Cal.4th at pp. 1093, 1095.

City of Los Angeles addressed the gateway question of whether the parties agreed to arbitration in the first place. It stands for the unremarkable proposition that "unless an arbitration agreement expressly provides otherwise, a dispute regarding the *arbitrability of a particular dispute* is

¹⁷ By taking their argument to its logical conclusion, Defendants only prove Plaintiff's point. Defendants essentially assert that, before compelling arbitration, courts must not only determine clause construction but also adjudicate the propriety of class certification. This would trample upon the sphere of the arbitrator and undermine the FAA's purpose to take cases completely out of the judicial system. It could easily take a year or more of full-on litigation before class certification is ripe for decision on the merits.

subject to judicial resolution.” 56 Cal.4th at p. 1096 (emphasis added). The *City of Los Angeles* Court confronted an entirely different question than the one presented here: the procedures available *once arbitration is commenced*. See *Knutsson v. KTLA, LLC* (2014) 228 Cal.App.4th 1118, 1131-34 (whether there is an enforceable duty for the parties to arbitrate the claims is decided by the court; in contrast, “when the subject matter of a dispute is arbitrable, ‘procedural’ questions which grow out of the dispute and bear on its final disposition are to be left for the arbitrator”) (citation omitted). The Second District was on solid ground in discussing on-point case law and “failing to mention” an opinion that makes not one single reference to class or collective arbitration or to *Bazzle* or its progeny.

II. Because Courts That Usurp the Role of the Arbitrator By Deciding the Procedural Matter of Clause Construction Commit *Per Se* Reversible Error, the Second District Correctly Refrained From Determining Whether the Superior Court Was Correct on the Merits

Defendants also boldly argue that, even if arbitrators are supposed to determine a particular question, courts may substitute their judgment for that of arbitrators so long as the courts arguably got it right on the merits. Defendants go so far as to argue that courts may decide a particular question “regardless of whether the underlying arbitration agreements set forth a preference by the contracting parties to have that question resolved by the arbitrator.” Defs.’ Br. at p. 18. Defendants’ bizarre position stands in disregard of an entire body of binding U.S. Supreme Court precedent on the issue at hand of “who decides.” Significantly, Defendants are unable to cite any authority supporting its core premise that the Second District should have followed the harmless error doctrine when considering the division of decision-making authority between courts and arbitrators (or even to other decision-making bodies such as judges and juries or coordinate branches of government).

“Harmless error” does not apply to this appeal. This doctrine presupposes that the identity of the decision-maker is irrelevant so long as the subsequent decision-making body (an appellate court) believes that its decision was the correct one, regardless of its authority to make that decision. The harmless error doctrine expressed in the California Constitution and Code of Civil Procedure section 475 is properly applied to challenges to verdicts and judgments on the basis of errors in pretrial or trial decisions. In civil appeals the doctrine may bar reversal when an appellant fails to persuade that an error prejudiced the verdict. *See, e.g., Cassim v. Allstate Ins. Co.* (2004) 33 Cal.4th 780, 787, 801 (restating the rule that not every trial error justifies reversal if there is no actual prejudice and declining to overturn trial verdict based on potentially improper closing argument). Defendants fundamentally misapply the doctrine to this appeal. While harmless error doctrine asks whether the verdict was likely to have been different, the dispositive question here is whether the court or arbitrator was the proper decision-maker on the clause construction issue. Once the Second District decided that it was the arbitrator who had the authority to decide clause construction, it correctly refrained from reviewing the merits of the clause construction performed by the Superior Court.

A. The Law is Clear that the Arbitrator Must Decide Clause Construction in the First Instance, Regardless of Whether the Superior Court Decided the Issue Correctly

When courts intrude on the province of arbitrators, their error is automatically reversible. The mere fact of the court’s interference in a decision properly within the arbitrator’s jurisdiction requires vacatur. Thus, it is unsurprising that Defendants fail to identify a single court that has engaged in a secondary analysis of the prejudice stemming from the error.

The Supreme Court has explicitly rejected Defendants' proposed mode of analysis. In *Bazzle*, five justices agreed that the accuracy of a decision does not shield that decision from vacatur when made by the wrong decision-maker. The plurality held that it must refrain from determining whether the contracts permitted class procedures "not simply because it is a matter of state law, but also *because it is a matter for the arbitrator to decide.*" 539 U.S. at p. 447 (emphasis added). It reached this conclusion notwithstanding the fact that the South Carolina Supreme Court unanimously held that the contracts authorized class arbitration. The plurality stated that it could not accept the state court's resolution because "the question – whether the agreement forbids class arbitration – is for the arbitrator to decide." *Id.* at p. 451. Indeed, the plurality found it necessary to remand given "a strong likelihood...that the arbitrator's decision reflected a court's interpretation of the contracts rather than an arbitrator's interpretation." *Id.* at p. 454. Whether the interpretation was correct on the merits did not figure into the analysis.

The U.S. Supreme Court has repeatedly cautioned that courts must not usurp the role of an arbitrator based on speculation regarding how the arbitrator might rule. For example, in *PacifiCare Health Systems, Inc. v. Book* (2003) 538 U.S. 401, the Court warned:

we should not, on the basis of "mere speculation" that an arbitrator might interpret these ambiguous agreements in a manner that casts their enforceability into doubt, take upon ourselves the authority to decide the antecedent question of how the ambiguity is to be resolved. In short, since we do not know how the arbitrator will construe the remedial limitations...the proper course is to compel arbitration.

Id. at pp. 406-07 (citations omitted). Yet the logic behind Defendants' position would require reviewing courts to opine on questions designated for the arbitrator, in order to determine whether any error by the trial court was prejudicial. This approach not only wastes judicial resources but also

results in an advisory opinion that threatens the independence of arbitrators in deciding questions committed to them in the first instance. It would invite trial courts to go ahead and decide issues reserved for the arbitrator, knowing they are unlikely to be reversed.

Federal appeals courts as well confirm that district court orders invading the arbitrator's jurisdiction must be vacated regardless of the result. *See Anderson, supra*, 500 F.3d at 72 (vacating decision of district court analyzing class bar in arbitration agreement, leaving determination to arbitrator in first instance); *Pedcor, supra*, 343 F.3d at p. 363 (vacating decision of district court certifying class for arbitration proceedings). *See also Blue Cross Blue Shield, supra*, 671 F.3d at p. 640 (in context of consolidation: parties to litigation may not litigate in advance whether arbitrators would exceed their powers if they reached a particular procedural decision, as such anticipatory review would entail an advisory opinion).

Similarly, courts in this state do not review this type of error for prejudice. In *Cable Connection, Inc. v. DirecTV, Inc.* (2008) 44 Cal.4th 1334, this Court remanded a clause construction dispute concerning class arbitration to the panel of arbitrators. Notably, it refrained from expressing an opinion on the merits, and it did not direct the question to the trial court. Instead, it made a narrow ruling that the arbitration panel misapplied relevant rules and precedent. It then sent the question of how to properly apply those authorities to the arbitration panel. *Id.* at pp. 607-08.

California appellate courts have likewise stressed that a decision must be made in the first instance by the arbitrator, and that the possibility of harmless error does not preclude the need to vacate. *See Garcia, supra*, 115 Cal.App.4th at pp. 301-02. *Garcia* rebuffed the argument that remand was superfluous because the arbitrator's ruling would be subject to review by a court that had already analyzed the arbitration clause. Attacking that

“imperfect syllogism,” the Second District emphatically stated that “the issue must be decided by the arbitrator.” *Id.* at p. 302. It stated, in part, that *Bazzle* “quite plainly mandates a decision made in the first instance by the arbitrator, not a decision made by the trial court and imposed on the arbitrator.” *Ibid.*¹⁸

B. This Conclusion is Bolstered By the Highly Deferential Standard of Review for Arbitrators’ Decisions

Notably, on judicial review from an arbitrator’s clause construction decision, a court does not determine whether the arbitrator reached the correct result but only whether he or she was “arguably construing” the contract. *Oxford Health, supra*, 133 S.Ct. at 2070 (unless arbitrator completely abandoned the task of construing the contract, even “grave error” not reversible). *See also Smith v. Servicemaster Holding Corp.*, (W.D.Tenn. May 21, 2013, No. 2:11-CV-02943-JPM-DKV) 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 71661 at *15-16 (only issue is whether there is any “plausible” legal basis for arbitrator’s award). Given this highly deferential standard of review, it is reversible error not to allow the arbitrator to decide in the first instance. Put simply, it does not matter what the court thinks about how it would resolve the issue if it were the decision-maker.

In short, there is no support for Defendants’ argument that the Second District erred by failing to review the trial court’s mistake for prejudice or harmless error. The argument misses the fundamental point:

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